1989

Walter James Howell v. Barbara Joyce Howell : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a Decree of Divorce entered in the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on May 12, 1989. Plaintiff filed a Motion to Amend the Judgment or For Relief From the Judgment which was denied on August 31, 1989. The Utah Court of Appeals has jurisdiction of this appeal pursuant to Rules 3 and 4, Rules of the Utah Court of Appeals and Utah Code Ann. § 78-2A-3(2)(g) (Supp. 1989).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether the Court abused its discretion in only awarding plaintiff alimony in the sum of \$1,800.00 per month in light of the disparity between the parties' incomes, the length of the marriage, and the defendant's needs and lack of specified job training or skills.

2. Whether the Court abused its discretion in basing the award of alimony to the defendant using the current income of the plaintiff at the time of trial to establish his ability to pay alimony while at the same time basing the parties' standard of living on the reduced income earned by the plaintiff during the years 1981 through 1986.

3. Whether the Court abused its discretion by failing to consider, as an expense of sale, the capital gains tax consequences to be assessed against each party on the sale of the California home prior to equal distribution of the equity therein.

4. Whether the Court abused its discretion in awarding an equal division of the net equity from the California home in

light of the parties disparate ability to pay capital gains taxes.

STATUTORY AUTHORITY

Utah Code Ann. § 30-3-5(1) (1989).

Disposition of property -- Maintenance of health care of parties and children -- court to have continuing jurisdiction -- custody and visitation -- termination of alimony -- non-meritorious petition for modification.

(1) When a decree of divorce is rendered, the court may include in it equitable orders relating to the children, property, and parties.

. . .

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Walter James Howell, the Plaintiff-Respondent in this case, filed a complaint against his wife, the Defendant-Appellant. Mrs. Barbara Joyce Howell filed a counterclaim, seeking a decree of divorce, alimony, child support, a fair and equitable division of the real and personal property, and attorney's fees.

The case was tried before the Honorable Frank G. Noel on December 22, 1988, and completed on January 19, 1989. Each side was represented by counsel and presented documentary evidence, as well as their own testimonies. In addition, Mr. Howell presented the testimony of two witnesses, one who offered testimony regarding the pension plans available to him, and the other who offered testimony regarding the availability of employment to his

wife. Mrs. Howell presented one additional witness who testified as to the tax benefits available to her husband upon the payment of alimony to her and as to the capital gains taxes which would be assessed against the parties upon the sale of the California home. After hearing closing arguments, the trial court issued its ruling. The Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce were signed and entered on May 12, 1989.

The ruling of the trial court applicable to the issues on appeal was as follows:

1. It awarded defendant alimony in the amount of \$1,800.00 per month, payable in two equal payments on the 1st and 15th days of each month, until the defendant remarried, cohabited or until further order of the Court.

2. It ordered that the California home be sold, and that the equity remaining in the home, after cost of sale, be divided equally between the parties.

Copies of the Findings, Conclusions and Decree are attached hereto in the Addendum as Exhibits "A" and "B" and by reference incorporated herein.

The plaintiff subsequently filed a Motion to Amend the Judgment or for Relief From the Judgment, which was denied on August 31, 1989. Defendant filed her Notice of Appeal on September 28, 1989.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

MARITAL HISTORY

The parties were married on October 14, 1956, in Cushing,

Oklahoma (Tr. 31). Shortly after their marriage, Mr. Howell began working for Western Airlines as a pilot (Tr. 38). During the marriage, the parties moved a number of times, (Tr. 39) and Mrs. Howell was primarily a full-time homemaker and mother, only working now and then on a part-time basis (Tr. 78). Five children were born as issue of this marriage, and at the time of trial, four were emancipated and one was a minor child, namely Sean Daniel Howell, born August 21, 1972 (Tr. 31). The parties separated on November 22, 1986.

EMPLOYMENT HISTORY

From 1957 through 1984, Mr. Howell was employed as an airline pilot for Western Airlines. Western Airlines was taken over by Delta Airlines in 1985, and he was thereafter employed as an airline pilot for Delta Airlines from 1985 through the time of trial (Tr. 40). In 1984, plaintiff's employer, then Western Airlines, suffered severe financial problems, and asked its pilots to accept a wage reduction (Tr. 113). The parties agreed, and as a result, the family experienced a financial strain during that period of time (Tr. 217) because Mr. Howell received no increases in compensation even though the cost of living was increasing (Tr. 115). During the period 1981 through 1986, Mr. Howell's average yearly income was approximately \$67,000.00 or \$5,500.00 per month.

In 1986, after Delta took over operation of the airlines, Mr. Howell began receiving increased compensation (Tr. 114). At the time of trial in December of 1988, he was earning

approximately \$10,120.00 per month (Tr. 45).

Defendant Mrs. Howell, at time of trial, was working as a part-time sales clerk for Casual Furniture and was earning a gross income of \$649.80 per month (Tr. 75). This employment was scheduled to end on December 31, 1988 because her employer was going out of business. (Tr. 75). Despite defendant's applications to several potential employers to find new employment, she had not been hired as of the time of trial, due to the fact that she did not have sufficient experience (Tr. 72).

Mrs. Howell graduated from high school in 1956, and has had no formal training, with the exception of approximately 30 hours of college courses taken at a junior college several years earlier (Tr. 70). Throughout the marriage, her part-time employment consisted primarily of unskilled labor, and included working as an aid in a day care center (Tr. 73); working as a secretary (Tr. 74); selling cosmetics (Tr. 74); working as a switchboard operator (Tr. 75); and teaching piano lessons out of her home (Tr. 72).

Mrs. Howell's monthly living expenses at time of trial were \$5,021.30 (Tr. 233-34).

The Court made the following specific Findings related to the plaintiff's income (Tr. 265):

5. At the time of the separation of the parties, the plaintiff was earning between \$5,500.00 per month and \$5,600.00 per month and had been earning this sum for five years prior to this time. . . .

6. The court believes the income level of \$5,500.00 reflects the income level and

living standards of the parties during the last five years of their lives together.

7. The plaintiff earns, from his present employment, a salary of \$10,000.00 per month. The court has determined in setting alimony that while \$5,500.00 per month represents the living standards of the parties in the last 5 years of the marriage, when the parties resided together, the ability of the plaintiff to pay alimony is based upon his present income of \$10,000.00 per month.

The Court made the following specific Finding related to the defendant's earning ability (Tr. 265):

8. The defendant earns, or is capable of earning, \$7,500.00 per year, or \$625.00 per month. At the time of trial, defendant was employed with Casual Furniture on a part-time basis earning a gross income of \$649.80 per month, although that employment was scheduled to end on December 31, 1988 and she had not yet secured replacement employment.

CALIFORNIA RESIDENCE

During the marriage, the parties acquired two homes, one in California (Tr. 57) and one in Utah (Tr. 58). The court found that the California home was valued at \$290,000.00 (Tr. 248) with a current mortgage of \$23,631.00 (Tr. 248). The court also found that the Utah home was valued at \$140,000.00 (Tr. 248) with a current mortgage of \$123,000.00 (Tr. 248). Mr. Howell testified at trial that he wanted to sell the California home and divide the remaining equity (Tr. 103). Mrs. Howell testified at trial that she wanted to reside in the California home for personal as well as financial reasons (Tr. 214-216). She also called Mark Papanikolas, a certified public accountant and certified financial planner (Tr. 165-166) as an expert to testify as to the

Plaintiff's tax benefits derived from the payment of alimony and as to the parties' potential tax liability on the sale of the California home. He testified that, based on Mr. Howell's 1988 payroll schedule, he would enjoy a substantial tax benefit by his payment of alimony (Tr. 199). For every dollar paid, Mr. Howell would save 33 cents (Tr. 199).

Mr. Papanikolas also testified that the capital gains tax on the realized equity from the sale of the California home would total \$23,400.00 (Tr. 201). His testimony also addressed the IRS requirements for qualifying for a tax exclusion or for "rolling over" this tax, one of which is that the California residence must be the primary residence of the parties (Tr. 184-185).

On this issue, Mr. Papanikolas stated as follows:

I don't think that it's possible to conclude affirmatively that the California home would be their primary residence unless Mr. and Mrs. Howell could prove that it was always their intent to return to California and to live in that home and the move to Salt Lake was temporary, and a number of things in line with that, then it would possible that that could be considered a primary residence.

The Internal Revenue Service may well take the position if the return were audited, when the home was sold, that that was not their primary residence because they moved to Salt Lake City because they purchased another home here and abandoned that as their primary residence. So I think it would be very difficult to say that you could use the provisions of Section 1034 to roll over any gain.

(Tr. 185 Lines 4-18).

Even if the parties could establish that the California

residence was their primary residence and thereby qualify to roll over the capital gains taxes incurred on its sale, Mrs. Howell testified that she was afraid that she would be financially unable to purchase another home in California, of greater value so as to roll over her capital gains taxes at that time (Tr. 215-216). Therefore, she requested the court to address the capital gains taxes as an expense in the event the court ordered the property sold. In the alternative, she asked the court to consider the parties' disparate ability to pay the tax and to adjust the division of equity accordingly (Tr. 198). The court failed to consider either option.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. The trial court's award of alimony failed to take into consideration the three factors relevant to alimony: (1) the needs of Mrs. Howell, which were established at \$5,021.30 per month; (2) her inability to meet those needs on her own due to her age, limited work experience and lack of formal education and skills; and (3) Mr. Howell's substantial ability to pay alimony based on his income at time of trial, in excess of \$10,000.00 per month. The award should be vacated and increased.

2. The trial court erred by failing to measure the parties' standard of living based on their income and needs at the time of trial. Instead the trial court based it on a life style maintained by the parties during a period when Mr. Howell's income was unusually low. Therefore, the alimony award should be vacated and increased, and this court should articulate a method

as to how and when the parties' standard of living should be measured.

3. The trial court failed to consider the immediate and concrete tax consequences precipitated by the court ordered sale of the California residence. As this failure resulted in an inequitable division of the net equity resulting from that sale, the property division as to the California residence should be vacated and the issue remanded.

ARGUMENT

I

THE TRIAL COURT SHOULD HAVE CONSIDERED THE DISPARITY IN THE PARTIES' INCOMES, THE LENGTH OF THE MARRIAGE, AND THE RESPECTIVE EARNING ABILITIES AND EXPENSES OF THE PARTIES IN MAKING ITS ALIMONY AWARD

The purpose of alimony is to "enable the receiving spouse to maintain as nearly as possible the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage and prevent the spouse from becoming a public charge." Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 100 (Utah 1986); Jones v. Jones, 700 P.2d 1072, 1075 (Utah 1985).

In making its alimony award, the court must consider all relevant factors affecting one spouse's ability to provide for herself and the other's ability to pay support. As summarized by the Utah Supreme Court in Olsen v. Olsen, 704 P.2d 564 (Utah 1985):

An alimony should, as far as possible,
equalize the parties' respective standards of
living and maintain them at a level as close

as possible to the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage. In determining the amount of alimony to be awarded, it was necessary for the trial court to consider the financial condition and needs of the plaintiff, her ability to produce a sufficient income for herself, and the ability of the defendant to provide support.

Id. at 566 (footnotes omitted).

Pursuant to this standard, the lower court in this case abused its discretion in awarding a lower amount of alimony to Mrs. Howell than her needs, and than the plaintiff's ability to provide, would mandate. The court found that, for the purposes of awarding alimony, the plaintiff's income averaged \$5,600.00 per month during the years 1981 through 1986, the last five years the parties resided together during their marriage. However, it based Plaintiff's ability to pay alimony on his income at time of trial, \$10,120.00 per month (Tr. 265). At the time of trial, Mrs. Howell was earning \$645.00 per month and her living expenses were over \$5,000.00 per month (Tr. 229).

In addition to child support of \$1,363.00, the court awarded Defendant monthly alimony in the amount of \$1,800.00. The minor child will turn 18 on August 21, 1990, and the child support payment will terminate. If we analyze the court's award of alimony under the three factors set forth in Olsen v. Olsen, supra, as well as the cases of Asper v. Asper, 753 P.2d 978 (Utah App. 1988); Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 144 (Utah App. 1988); and Sampinos v. Sampinos, 750 P.2d 615 (Utah App. 1988), it is

clear the court abused its discretion, and Mrs. Howell is entitled to a greater amount of alimony.

First of all, the court must consider the financial condition and needs of the recipient spouse. At the time of the trial, Mrs. Howell was employed on a part-time basis as a furniture sales clerk, earning \$7.00 per hour (Tr. 75). Her employment was scheduled to terminate on December 31, 1988, due to the fact that the store was closing (Tr. 75). At trial, Mrs. Howell testified that her monthly living expenses were \$5,021.30, and these were compiled from actual expenses recorded in her check book register (Tr. 233). She had been unable to make ends meet with the combined amount of temporary support of \$2,400.00 per month that she had been receiving from the Plaintiff, and her own small salary (Tr. 211). In fact, she had to borrow money to meet her expenses on two separate occasions (Tr. 215). Mrs. Howell asked the court for an award of alimony in the amount of \$3,500.00 per month, and an additional amount of \$500.00 for child support. As in the Sampinos case, supra, there were no income producing assets awarded to the defendant in the divorce, and her only means of support would be the small income she could generate through her own efforts, and any additional amounts the court ordered plaintiff to pay.

The second factor to be considered by the court is the defendant's ability to produce sufficient income for herself. In the instant case, Mrs. Howell has a high school education, nominal additional formal training, and limited work experience.

At the time of trial, she was in her mid-fifties, with no professional training and limited marketable skills. Her limited work experience, during the 32 years of the parties' marriage, was in relatively unskilled jobs. During most of the marriage, including the separations, Mrs. Howell devoted her time to raising the parties' children and maintaining the parties' home. It is unrealistic to assume that Mrs. Howell, in light of her age and limited work experience and training, would be able to enter the work force and support herself in a style resembling that which she would have had if the marriage had continued. Needless to say, the standard of living she would have enjoyed had the marriage continued would have been based on an annual income in excess of \$120,000.00. At the time of trial, Plaintiff's income exceeded \$10,000.00 per month. The alimony award of \$1,800.00 is less than one-fifth of Plaintiff's monthly income, and not an adequate amount to allow Defendant to meet her basic needs and expenses much less maintain a comparable standard of living.

The last factor the court must consider in making an award of alimony is the paying spouse's ability to provide support. The record clearly demonstrates the Plaintiff's ability to provide adequate support for the Defendant. Based upon his monthly income at time of trial which was in excess of \$10,000.00 per month, it is clear that he has an ability to pay defendant a greater amount of support than what was awarded. In addition, uncontroverted evidence at trial established that Mr. Howell

would realize a substantial tax benefit of 33 cents for every dollar of alimony paid to his wife.

In light of Mrs. Howell's financial needs, her inability to meet those needs and Mr. Howell's substantial ability to pay, the court abused its discretion in only awarding Mrs. Howell alimony in the amount of \$1,800.00 per month. This court should vacate that award and enter its own award based on the evidence contained in the record. In the alternative, this court should remand to the lower court for a redetermination of an adequate award of alimony. In either event, the increase of alimony award should be made retroactive to the date of trial.

II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING ALIMONY BASED UPON ITS MEASUREMENT OF THE PARTIES' STANDARD OF LIVING DURING THE YEARS 1981 TO 1986

The court found that Mr. Howell's ability to pay alimony was based upon his monthly income at time of trial of \$10,000.00. However, inconsistently with this finding, the court determined that the standard of living enjoyed by the parties during the marriage was based on Mr. Howell's average income from 1981 to 1986 of \$5,500.00 per month. This figure represented the reduced compensation the parties agreed to accept from Western Airlines knowing that their income level would substantially increase once the take over of Western by Delta was accomplished. This measurement of the standard of living was an abuse of discretion.

Utah law requires consideration of the standard of living enjoyed by the parties during the marriage in making a

determination of the amount of alimony to be awarded to the recipient spouse. For example, in the case of Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 1144 (Utah App. 1988) the Utah Court of Appeals stated:

[Alimony] should, so far as possible, equalize the parties' 'respective standards of living and maintain them at a level as close as possible to the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage.' (citations omitted) '[T]he ultimate test of the propriety of an alimony award is whether, given all of these factors, the party receiving alimony will be able to support him- or herself as nearly as possible to the standard of living . . . enjoyed during the marriage.'

Id. at 1147. (citations omitted).

Although the courts mandate this consideration of the standard of living in fashioning an alimony award, Utah courts have never defined the term or articulated a formula for measuring a specific standard of living. One case even suggests that the appropriate standard is that which the parties would have enjoyed had the marriage continued. In Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1983), the Utah Supreme Court stated:

Where a marriage is of long duration and the earning capacity of one spouse greatly exceeds that of the other, as here, it is appropriate to order alimony and child support at a level which will insure that the supported spouse and children may maintain a standard of living not unduly disproportionate to that which they would have enjoyed had the marriage continued.

Id. at 1205 (emphasis added) (See also Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 1144, 1147 (Utah App. 1988)).

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