1989

Walter James Howell v. Barbara Joyce Howell : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The alimony award should be affirmed on the grounds that the trial court resolved that issue well within the bounds of its discretion after considering the financial condition and needs of the wife, her ability to provide sufficient income for herself and husband's ability to provide support. The tax issue raised in appellant's brief was not presented to the trial court and, consequently, should not be considered upon appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY DETERMINED THAT THE 'PARTIES' STANDARD OF LIVING SHOULD BE BASED UPON HUSBAND'S EARNINGS FOR THOSE YEARS IMMEDIATELY PRIOR TO AND AT THE TIME OF SEPARATION IN 1986.

Wife seeks alimony based upon husband's earnings in 1988, instead of the standard of living shared by the parties during the time that they lived together between 1981 and 1986 (Appellant's Brief at 13). The principle thrust of appellant's argument is that the parties agreed to accept reduced income between 1981 and 1986, based upon a promise by Western Airlines that husband's income would substantially increase upon the completion of a Delta Airlines takeover (Appellant's Brief at

13; (T.216-217). However, no evidence was offered at trial to support wife's allegations that the parties had agreed in 1981 to a delayed compensation arrangement with husband's employer.

Husband testified that his income remained level between 1981 and 1986 because Western Airlines was attempting to remain a viable company (T.40-41). His pay was never reduced, he just received no increase (T.114-115). Neither husband nor wife testified that in 1981 they anticipated a merger between Western Airlines and Delta Airlines which would result in substantial benefits to them. Wife introduced no evidence in support of her assertion because none exists.

Furthermore, wife did not reconcile the inconsistency in her claim that the parties made a conscious decision to delay present benefits in 1981 with the fact that the two were apparently not getting along during this period of time and had separated on numerous occasions. The parties began experiencing dissatisfaction with their marriage in 1981, and husband filed for dissolution of the marriage (T.41). An attempt was made to reconcile their differences, but divorce suits were again filed by husband in 1984 (T.41), in 1986 (T.42) and in 1987 (R.2). Except for a brief weekend together in 1988 (T.32, 44), the parties last resided together on November 22, 1986 (T.42). Wife retained counsel in 1987 (T.241) and pursuant to court order began receiving alimony payments that same year (T.46). In short, the parties' knowledge of a final "pay off" following the "lean years" when husband earned over \$5,000.00 per month comes

now in retrospect.

At the conclusion of trial in this matter, the trial court awarded wife alimony in the sum of \$1,800.00 per month (R.278). The trial court's findings in support of its judgment were as follows:

5. At the time of the separation of the parties, the plaintiff was earning between \$5,500.00 per month and \$5,600.00 per month and had been earning this sum for five years prior to this time. After separation, the plaintiff filed an action for divorce which he dismissed at trial; that after a two-day attempted reconciliation, he filed this action.

6. The court believes the income level of \$5,500.00 reflects the income level and living standards of the parties during the last five years of their lives together.

7. The plaintiff earns, from his present employment, a salary of \$10,000.00 per month. The court has determined in setting alimony that while \$5,500.00 per month represents the living standards of the parties in the last five years of the marriage, when the parties resided together, the ability of the plaintiff to pay alimony is based upon his present income of \$10,000.00 per month.

(R. 265).

The standard of review by this court of the decision of the trial court is succinctly stated in Bridenbaugh v Bridenbaugh, 786 P.2d 241 (Utah App 1990)

Trial courts have considerable discretion in determining the amount of alimony appropriate in a given case, and will be upheld unless a clear and prejudicial abuse of discretion is shown.

Bridenbaugh, 786 P.2d at 242 (citations omitted).

Wife argues that the trial court misapplied the law in that the court failed to consider the standard of living the parties would have enjoyed "had the marriage continued" as mandated by Savage v. Savage, 658 P.2d 1201 (Utah 1983) (Appellant's Brief at 15). First, wife misreads Savage. In Savage, the Utah Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's alimony and child support award on the grounds that the amounts awarded by the trial court were consistent with the parties' past standard of living and the benefits they had previously enjoyed during the marriage. Savage, 658 P.2d at 1205. The language cited by wife, in this case, imposing upon the trial court an obligation to consider the standard of living "had the marriage continued" is dictum and must not form the basis of reversal of the trial court's decision in this case.

Second, if this court were to impose upon trial courts an obligation to set the standard of living at a level proportionate to that which the parties would have enjoyed "had the marriage continued," this would necessarily require the trial court to speculate about a host of possible increases or decreases in wealth that could befall a family within its lifetime and would create an impossible task for the trial court in attempting to establish a baseline for future modification purposes.

Third, the logical extension of wife's interpretation of Savage would result in periodic and automatic increases or decreases in alimony. Such interpretation is inconsistent with

Utah statutory provisions which empower the trial court with continuing jurisdiction to impose such orders as are equitable in relation to the parties. See Utah Code §30-3-5 (1989).

Fourth, the "fundamental purpose of alimony 'is to enable the receiving spouse to maintain as nearly as possible the standard of living enjoyed during the marriage and to prevent the spouse from becoming a public charge.'" Bridenbaugh, 786 P.2d at 242 (quoting Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d at 100). Future events or changes in income should not be used to retroactively adjust application of this standard as articulated by this court and the Utah Supreme Court.

Finally, wife argues that had the trial court set the standard of living of the parties at the time of trial in 1988, the trial court would have acted consistently with the requirement that marital assets are valued as of the time of trial (Appellant's Brief at 15-16). However, the issue is the standard for setting alimony, not division of property. In any event, while wife has correctly stated the general rule, this court has declared that, under appropriate circumstances, assets may be valued at an earlier date. See, e.g., Anderson v. Anderson, 757 P.2d 476, 479 (Utah App. 1988); Peck v. Peck, 738 P.2d 1050 (Utah App. 1987).

The trial court has wide discretion in distributing the income and properties of the parties in an equitable fashion and is not required to operate within a rigid compartment of time. Cf. Canning v. Canning, 744 P.2d 325, 327-329 (Utah App. 1987).

(The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed the allocation of assets and liabilities of the parties which took into account the on-again off-again relationship of the parties in fashioning relief); see also Sampinos v. Sampinos 750 P.2d 615, 618 (Utah App. 1988) (Trial court has broad discretion in the division of property regardless of the source or time of acquisition).

In this case, the trial court determined that:

With regard to alimony, the court has attempted to apply the law of the State of Utah, and that is to equalize the standard of living of the parties, and to maintain that standard at a level at which it existed during the marriage. The court is of the opinion that that level of standard of living experienced by the parties during their marriage, is best represented by the standard of living that they enjoyed at the time of the separation of the parties during the 1986 period of time.

(T.245-246). Wife has not demonstrated that the trial court's order misapplied the law or abused its discretion. Consequently, the decision of the trial court must be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT AWARDED ALIMONY WITHIN THE BOUNDS AND STANDARDS OF ITS DISCRETION.

The trial court is accorded broad discretion in awarding alimony. Davis v. Davis, 749 P.2d 647, 649 (Utah 1988). Its decision will not be disturbed provided that the trial court considered:

(1) the financial condition and needs of the party seeking alimony; (2) that party's ability to produce a sufficient income for him-or herself; and (3) the ability of the other party to provide support. Failure to analyze the parties' circumstances in the light of these three factors constitutes an abuse of discretion. As long as the "trial

court exercises its discretion within the bounds and under that standards we have set and has supported its decision with adequate findings and conclusions, we will not disturb its rulings."

Naranjo v. Naranjo, 751 P.2d 1144, 1147 (Utah App. 1988)
(citations omitted).

Wife argues on appeal that the trial court failed to consider her needs, her inability to meet those needs and her husband's ability to pay substantial sums of alimony (Appellant's Brief at 8).

The first factor to be considered is wife's financial condition and needs. The trial court awarded wife a portion of husband's retirement benefits with Western Airlines and Delta (R.279); a portion of husband's military retirement benefits (R.279); an IRA account in the amount of \$10,397.00 (R.279); one-half of the substantial net proceeds from the sale of real properties located in California, Utah and Texas (R.280-282); her bank accounts (R.282); substantial personal property (R.282-283) and \$7,500.00 in attorney's fees (R.284). In addition, she was awarded child support in the sum of \$1,363.00 per month (R.278); assistance with the children's medical, dental, orthodontic and eye care expenses (R.279-280) and assistance with her own health expenses (R.280). Finally, husband was ordered to maintain life insurance for the benefit of the children until they obtain the age of 21 years or marry (R.280).

Wife testified at the time of trial in December, 1988, that her monthly living expenses totaled \$5,021.00 (T.233), although

her financial declaration filed with the court in September, 1988, listed monthly expenses of only \$4,464.62 (R.122). Wife's expenses included numerous debts which she incurred subsequent to the parties' separation to various credit card and department store accounts (T.236); banks (T.234); third-parties (T.235); and also included her assumption that she would continue to incur monthly mortgage expenses of \$1,500.00 per month from the real property located in Utah (T.229), unless she moved into the more expensive California home (T.229). Wife submitted no evidence of her anticipated expenses in the event that she moved to California.

The trial court ordered the sale of the homes in California and Utah (R. 280-281), thereby necessarily eliminating many of the monthly expenses forming the basis of wife's request for \$4,000.00 in alimony.

The second factor to be considered is wife's ability to produce a sufficient income for herself. Wife testified that the reason that she could not secure full-time employment was because she felt that she needed to be at home with her sixteen-year-old son (R.228-229). Throughout the marriage, wife worked at various part-time jobs: as a piano instructor (T.72, 210), child care attendant (T.73), secretary (T.74,76), salesperson (T.74-75, 210), switchboard operator (T.75, 210) and bookkeeper (T.76). She had taken approximately 30 hours of college courses in junior college and had also attended the University of Florida (T.70-71).

An expert witness in rehabilitation, vocational education and job placement testified that based upon wife's testimony, wife had available to her employment positions in the field of child care, teacher's aide, secretarial or clerical, or retail (T. 62, 80-85). The expert witness testified that, in her opinion, wife was capable of earning between \$7,200.00 and \$16,800.00 per year (T. 82-85). The trial court found that wife earned, or is capable of earning, \$7,500.00 per year or \$625.00 per month. (R. 265).

The third factor that must be considered by the trial court is the ability of the other party to provide support. The alimony award in this case was based upon husband's income at the time of trial (R. 265).

Husband testified at trial that he believed that wife was not entitled to alimony for the reason that the parties had accumulated substantial assets that would generate adequate income to meet wife's monthly expenses (T. 116). Husband supported his argument with his trial brief which relied upon Mortensen v. Mortensen, 760 P.2d 304 (Utah 1988) for the proposition that an award of sufficient income-producing property, or property capable of producing income, should be considered in eliminating or reducing the need for alimony (R. 175-178). His position is also supported by Noble v. Noble, 761 P.2d 1369, 1373 (Utah 1988) where the Utah Supreme Court held that issues of alimony and property division are not entirely separable and the trial court may consider the property division

as well as the relative earning capabilities of the parties.

Husband's proposition was rejected by the trial court as well as wife's request that she be awarded alimony in the sum of \$3,500.00 per month (T.212). Instead, the trial court awarded wife \$1,800.00 per month alimony, which when combined with husband's child support obligation, is approximately one-third of husband's present salary, leaving one-third for husband and one-third for the Internal Revenue Service and State Tax Commission.

Wife has made no showing sufficient to rebut the presumption that the trial court consider the parties' financial condition and needs, expenses and income. She has merely disagreed with the court's conclusion. Accordingly, the decision of the trial court must be affirmed.

III. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED TO CONSIDER
THEORETICAL TAX CONSEQUENCES FROM THE SALE OF
THE CALIFORNIA HOME.

Wife's final claim of error is that the trial court abused its discretion by failing to consider, as an expense of sale, the capital gains tax consequences on the sale of the California home prior to equal distribution of the property (Appellant's Brief at 1, 16). At trial, the parties discussed the issue of capital gains treatment on the sale of the California home, but wife's position was that she should be awarded the California home in which to live (T.214) and that the home should not be sold (T.215-216). At no time did wife request that the trial court consider the tax consequences as an expense of sale, or in the alternative, adjust the division of the net equity to compensate

wife for her alleged disparate ability to pay (T. at 183-186, 196, 197, 200-202), even though the trial court inquired of counsel after having rendered its judgment from the bench whether any matters were overlooked (T.251). Having failed to raise this issue at trial, wife is precluded from raising this issue on appeal. Paffel v. Paffel, 732 P.2d 96, 99 (Utah 1986).

Even if wife's objection to the sale of the California property could be construed as a request that husband pay all or a substantial portion of any capital gain consequences from the sale, wife is not entitled to the relief she now seeks on the grounds that the trial court properly refused to speculate about the hypothetical tax consequences resulting from the sale of the California property. See Alexander v. Alexander, 737 P.2d 221, 224 (Utah 1987) (Trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to adjust the market value of a retirement account in anticipation of future tax liability).

The value of the California property, for the purpose of determining the ultimate tax liability of the parties, was not determinable at trial because the property was leased to third-parties and was unavailable for sale until October, 1989, almost one year later (T.212). Wife's expert witness testified that he estimated the present value of any tax liability to be \$23,400.00, which sum was based upon a hypothetical profit of \$260,000.00 (T.201). Also assumed in the hypothetical profit figure was the time of sale and percentage of discount rate (T.202). The amount of capital gains tax liability was made more

uncertain by the fact that the parties may be able defer all of part of the gain by investing the proceeds from the sale of the California property into new residences. Int. Rev. Code §1034. Wife's expert witness testified that it would be possible, although difficult, that the parties could qualify for exclusion under section 1034 and section 121 of the Internal Revenue Code (T.185, 196-197, 198-199).

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